

▲  
**Knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAPs) regarding tick-borne rickettsial disease among medical staff in endemic areas of China**

Miao-Hui Shao<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Pei-Yuan Hu<sup>1,4\*</sup>, Peng-Peng Xu<sup>2</sup>, Jie Sun<sup>2</sup>, Xia-Qing Zhang<sup>1,4</sup>, Dan Zhang<sup>3</sup>, Yong Shen<sup>3</sup>, Da-Wei Gao<sup>2</sup>, Wei-Gang Zhang<sup>2</sup>, Wei-Qin<sup>2</sup>, Yong Lyu<sup>1,2</sup>

\*These authors contributed equally to this article.

Author affiliations:

<sup>1</sup>School of Public Health, Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China

<sup>2</sup>Lu'an Municipal Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Lu'an, Anhui, China

<sup>3</sup>Lu'an People's Hospital, Lu'an, China

<sup>4</sup>Anhui Provincial Key Laboratory of Microbiology & Parasitology, Hefei, Anhui, People's Republic of China

Corresponding Author:

Lyu Yong, Lu'an Municipal Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Lu'an, China;

E-mail: lyong@lacdc.com.cn

▲  
**Abstract**

Tick-borne rickettsial disease (TBRD) is a perilous acute infection that often eludes diagnosis in its early stages. The triad of knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAPs) among medical professionals is key to reducing missed diagnosis rates. Therefore, a meticulous evaluation of KAPs is imperative. This study aimed to delve into the understanding of TBRD and explore the beliefs and practices related to personal prevention methods among individuals in Lu'an, a hotspot for TBRD. During the summer months of 2023, convenience sampling was employed by circulating a confidential questionnaire to 1,206 participants in the endemic regions of China. This questionnaire painted a comprehensive picture of the participants' sociodemographic profiles and their KAPs levels vis-à-vis TBRD. The findings revealed that participants scored a mere 55.78% in knowledge, while their attitudes and practices garnered impressive scores of 90.09% and 90.83%, respectively. Upon further analysis using multiple linear regression, several intriguing patterns emerged. Male participants, employed in the Infectious Disease Department, held vice-senior or higher titles, or had prior medical training demonstrated superior knowledge scores. On the other hand, medical personnel who were younger than 30, possessed graduate degrees or higher qualifications, and had training excelled in attitudes and practices. Notably, when employing the Boston Consulting Group (BCG) matrix, a significant distribution of medical personnel was observed across the four quadrants. Specifically, 37.43%, 13.19%, 19.61%, and 29.77% fell into the first, second, third, and fourth quadrants. This survey underscores the commendable attitudes and practices of medical staff towards TBRD in endemic regions of China. However, their knowledge level remains wanting and demands urgent improvement.

Style Definition: EndNote Bibliography Title

Style Definition: EndNote Bibliography

Style Definition: List Paragraph: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt, Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: holds the

Deleted: Participants who were male

Deleted: infectious disease department

Deleted: years of age

Deleted: terms of

Deleted: of them

Deleted: , respectively

## 1.Introduction

Tick-borne rickettsial disease (TBRD) refers to rickettsial diseases caused by tick transmission. Rickettsial is divided into the [Rickettsiaceae](#) and [plasma](#) families, and [Rickettsiaceae](#) is further divided into four categories, namely, the spotted fever group rickettsial (SFGR), typhus group rickettsial, ancestral group rickettsial, and transitional group rickettsial (Merhej et al., 2014). The disease is transmitted via saliva through a tick bite (Nicholson et al., 2019; Walker & Ismail, 2008). More than 20 causative agents have been identified (Kernif et al., 2016). Infections are often similar to many other acute febrile illnesses characterized by fever, chills, and headache, with maculopapular rash at the site of the vector bites similar to many other infections (Adem, 2019; HM et al., 2016). Some patients may present with erythema nodosa in the early stage (Peregrina-Rivas et al., 2022), which can be used as a reference for early identification. In a small number of individuals, there have been reported cases of concurrent infections with two types of SFGR, occasionally accompanied by severe sequelae such as encephalitis (Mendes et al., 2021; Rudakov et al., 2019).

In recent years, studies have revealed that missed diagnosis and misdiagnosis of TBRD are prevalent and have a significant impact on the prognosis of patients (HM et al., 2016; Igolkina et al., 2022). One of the most important factors in the misdiagnosis of TBRD is the lack of awareness among primary care staff and emergency department physicians when encountering undifferentiated acute febrile disease during the tick season (Walker et al., 2022). According to the investigation, [many](#) patients do not exhibit rash during diagnosis and treatment (Igolkina et al., 2022; Kinoshita et al., 2021). [A rash's](#) delay in appearance or absence can also make a TBRD diagnosis challenging. Literature reviews have shown that many cases of delayed disease diagnosis were caused by a lack of knowledge among medical staff (Bégué, 2023; Li & Liu, 2021). Early recognition in the clinical course is critical because this is the [most effective](#) period [of](#) antibacterial therapy (HM et al., 2016). Medical staff play an important role in [detecting](#) and [controlling](#) infectious diseases. [They](#) are also an important source of information to help raise public awareness among high-risk people (Eleftheriou et al., 2023). The Knowledge, Attitudes, and Practices (KAPs) theory is the most widely utilized framework [for](#) explaining how individual knowledge and beliefs influence [change in](#) health practices. Therefore, [gaining](#) a comprehensive understanding of the KAPs of medical personnel towards TBRD [is imperative](#).

China is a country with a vast territory and lush forests. With the intensification of globalization, climate change, and expansion of human activities, the incidence of TBRD in China has gradually increased, and the incidence range has continued to expand (Fang et al., 2015). Lu'an City in Anhui Province is an endemic area in China. Lu'an City is located in the Ta-pieh Mountain area. This city is rich in forest vegetation and suitable for tick breeding. As early as 2006, tick-borne diseases appeared in Anhui Province (Zhang et al., 2010), and in 2013, it was confirmed that

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: rickettsiaceae

Deleted: anplasma

Deleted: rickettsiaceae

Deleted: a significant number of

Deleted: The

Deleted: of a rash

Deleted: when

Deleted: is most effective

Deleted: the detection

Deleted: control of

Deleted: , and

Deleted: -

Deleted: in

Deleted: the process of

Deleted: change

Deleted: it is imperative to gain

Deleted: have

SFGR was transmitted in Lu'an City (Hu et al., 2022; Lyu et al., 2021). Follow-up investigations by the local Centers for Disease Control and Prevention showed that there was a natural foci of TBRD in Lu'an City, [ehrlichiosis](#), as the TBRD also has been found to exist in Lu'an and hundreds of cases of TBRD are diagnosed annually in Lu'an (Lyu et al., 2023).

Increasing awareness among professionals in the field is [paramount](#) for establishing effective control measures against pathogens. Assessing the knowledge of medical staff could provide useful information on the levels of interventions required to adapt government-related measures to meet the demands of a changing world. Nevertheless, to [our knowledge](#), there are no [KAP](#) data for specific occupational high-risk populations in China. The survey on KAPs in China mainly covers the general population in endemic areas (Lyu et al., 2017). Therefore, this study [aimed](#) to assess the basic knowledge of medical staff in endemic areas of China. This approach will be essential for building core competencies regarding TBRD and suggesting additional adjustment measures.

## 2. Materials and methods

### 2.1 Ethics committee

[The Health Commission of Lu'an City \(Health and Disease Control Secretary \[2023\] No. 20\)](#) [approved this study for implementation](#). The study was conducted in full compliance with [Chinese](#) legal and regulatory requirements.

### 2.2 Study area

A quantitative descriptive cross-sectional study was conducted among medical staff in Lu'an. Survey locations were selected based on high annual TBRD incidence rates (Lyu et al., 2023). According to the principle of convenience sampling, 21 medical institutions in Lu'an were selected to be investigated.

### 2.3 Study population

We selected medical personnel from various medical institutions, including doctors, nurses, inspectors, and other relevant professionals. All eligible medical personnel were welcome to participate, [except](#) those unable to use a mobile phone, as our questionnaire [required](#) a smartphone for completion. Furthermore, participants were required to be at least 18 years of age.

### 2.4 Sample size

The data on TBRD were collected through a structured questionnaire [from](#) July to August 2023. The questionnaire content was carefully formulated by experts following thorough discussions and research. The sample size for the study area was determined using the formula for cross-sectional studies (Eq. (1)).

$$n = \frac{z_a^2 \times p \times q}{d^2}; n = \frac{(1.96)^2 \times 0.3(1-0.3)}{(0.03)^2}; n = 896 \approx 900 \quad (1)$$

where  $n$  = sample size,  $Z = 1.96$  (95% confidence level),  $P$  = expected prevalence or

Deleted: erlichiosis

Deleted: of

Deleted: importance

Deleted: the best of

Deleted: KAPs

Deleted: the aim of

Deleted: was

Formatted

Deleted: This study was approved for implementation by the

Deleted: 20).

Deleted: in China.

Deleted: with the exception of

Deleted: necessitated the use of

Deleted: during the period of

proportion (in proportion of one; 30%,  $P = 0.3$ ), and  $d$  =precision (in proportion of 1; whereas  $P = 0.3$ , therefore  $d =0.03$ ).

Considering the possibility of no response or questionnaire failure in this study, the actual sample size was increased by 1.5 times and determined to be 1,350. Multiple random sampling techniques were applied to select the study participants. The only unwillingness to contribute was the exclusion criteria.

2.5 Study instrument

A preliminary survey based on a literature review and expert suggestions, was adopted before the investigation. The final questionnaire was determined after several rounds of modification in strict accordance with the requirements of the questionnaire design. To ensure the reliability of the questionnaire results, this study adopted an on-site survey completed by professionals with on-site guidance, and the questionnaire data were collected uniformly in the background.

3. Metrics

3.1 Questionnaire content

The structured questionnaire was comprised of four sections. First, the socio-demographic section included the variables of medical staff’s gender, age, department, education level, professional title, hospital level, occupation, and training on TBRD. Second, the knowledge section of the questionnaire assessed medical staff on their knowledge of TBRD, including symptoms of TBRD, incubation period, susceptible subjects, duration of treatment, preferred drug, and high incidence season. This section included nine close-ended questions, each with several possible answers. One point was given for a correct answer, and no points were given for a wrong answer. The possible score range for the knowledge section was zero to nine points. Third, the attitudes section contained questions about medical staff’s impressions towards TBRD. An attitude was defined as “a complex mental state involving beliefs, feelings, values, and dispositions to act in certain ways”(Altmann, 2008). This section included seven questions that each had five possible answers. A five-point rating scale (Singh et al., 2023)(Strongly agree; Moderately agree; Neutral=3; Partially disagree=2; Strongly Disagree=1) was used to evaluate the medical staff’s attitudes. The possible score range for the attitudes section was zero to 35 points. Finally, section four comprised seven questions regarding TBRD practices by medical staff. The scoring method was the same as above. The possible score range for the practices section was zero to 35 points. Additionally, Cronbach's coefficient of this questionnaire, which evaluated the aspects of attitudes and practices, was 0.898.

3.2 Statistical analysis

SPSS® and Microsoft Excel® software were used for statistical analysis. We applied multivariate analysis, one-way variance analysis (ANOVA), and Student’s t test. The Boston Consulting Group (BCG) determined the key health education population.

4. Results

Deleted: On the basis of

Deleted: , a preliminary survey

Deleted: , and the

Deleted: that was

Deleted: Measures

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: pertaining to the

Deleted: of medical staff

Deleted: Here, an

Deleted: =5

Deleted: =4

Deleted: was

Deleted: of

Deleted: the

Deleted: aspects

Deleted: and

Deleted: of variance

Deleted: as well as

Deleted: key population of health education was determined by the ...

Deleted: ).

Formatted: Font: Bold

#### 4.1 Demographic data

1,350 questionnaires were distributed, and 1,206 valid questionnaires were recovered, for an effective response rate of 89.26%. Women accounted for 59.12% of the respondents. Most of the participants were under 30 years old (34.00%). In terms of lower and higher levels, educational background was almost always higher among the respondents (undergraduate course or above, 66.42%). Most respondents were either working in tertiary hospitals (40.22%) or secondary hospitals (29.60%) at the respective study locations. Approximately half of the respondents (41.63%) were clinicians, 5.56% were inspection personnel, and 37.81% were nurses. More people had participated in general training on tick-borne diseases than those who had not, accounting for 73.05%. For details, please see Table 1.

Deleted: A total of

Deleted: Educational background, in

Deleted: There were more

Deleted: who

#### 4.2 Scoring of medical staff

The total average score of the 1,206 medical staff was  $68.25 \pm 7.31$ , for a total score of 86.39%. The average score of the knowledge dimension was  $4.93 \pm 1.22$ , and the scoring rate was 55.78%. However, the average score of the attitudes dimension was  $31.53 \pm 3.70$  for a scoring rate of 90.09%, and the average score of the practices dimension was  $31.79 \pm 3.64$  for a scoring rate of 90.83%.

#### 4.3 One-way analysis of KAPs scores of TBRD among medical staff

Table 2 shows the results of the single-factor analysis. The results showed that sex, age, professional title, department, and training influenced the TBRD knowledge score. Age, education level, working years, and training influenced the TBRD attitudes score. Age, education level, working years, position, and training influenced the TBRD practices score. The differences were statistically significant ( $P < 0.05$ ).

Deleted:

Deleted: were the factors influencing

Deleted: were the factors influencing

Deleted: were the factors influencing

#### 4.4 Multivariate analysis of KAPs scores of TBRD among medical staff

Multiple linear regression was carried out with the medical staff members' knowledge, attitudes, and practices related to TBRD as the dependent variables and the meaningful variables identified in the univariate analysis as the independent variables. The variable assignments are shown in Table 3. Each variable's variance inflation factor (VIF) was less than 10, and there was no multicollinearity. The results showed that sex, department, title, and training of medical staff influenced knowledge scores ( $P < 0.05$ ), specifically reflected in the higher scores for males, infectious disease department personnel, people with a vice-senior or higher titles, and trained medical staff. Notably, the magnitude of the absolute value of the regression coefficient directly correlates with the extent of influence the independent variable exerts on the dependent variable. A larger absolute value signifies a greater impact. Therefore, gender has the most significant influence on knowledge scores, whereas department exhibits the least impact. Age, education level, and training of medical personnel influenced the attitudes and practices scores ( $P < 0.05$ ), specifically reflected in the higher scores of medical personnel younger than 30 years old, participants with postgraduate or higher education, and trained medical personnel. Amongst the various

Deleted: with

Deleted: The

Deleted: of each variable

Deleted: were the factors influencing

Deleted: which were

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Deleted: It is noteworthy that

Deleted: were the factors influencing

Deleted: which were

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

influences, training [has](#) the most profound effect on attitudes and practices, whereas education's impact on these aspects is comparatively minimal (Table 4).

Deleted: stands out as having

4.5 Analysis of the TBRD [Health Education Population](#)

Deleted: health education population

To further characterize the TBRD health education of medical workers, knowledge of TBRD was shown as the horizontal axis, and practice was shown as the vertical axis. Four-quadrant analysis was used. A total score of nine points was considered to indicate knowledge, and scores  $\geq 5$  were considered to indicate quality. The median attitudes score was 33, and a positive attitude was defined as a score  $\geq 33$ . The median practices score was 34, and  $\geq 34$  was considered correct practices. The analysis revealed that 37.43%, 13.19%, 19.61%, and 29.77% of the medical staff fell into the first, second, and fourth quadrants, respectively. The [population's attitude](#) accuracy rate, in each quadrant is detailed in Table 5.

Deleted: attitudes

Deleted: of the population

**5. Discussion**

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

TBRD is a regional disease whose geographical distribution is synchronized with the seasonal activities of ticks as vectors (Romer et al., 2020). In recent years, TBRD and the discovery of new pathogens have been reported in more and more countries, making it a public health issue of worldwide concern (Faccini-Martinez et al., 2018; Leon de la Fuente & Sanchez, 2018; Sevestre et al., 2021; Silva-Ramos et al., 2022). [Improving the](#) medical staff's understanding of TBRD is conducive to improving the [disease's](#) early diagnosis rate and enhancing [patients'](#) recovery [levels](#) (Walker et al., 2022). This study provides new insights [into](#) TBRD awareness among healthcare workers in endemic areas of China, as well as new practices for preventing tick bites and controlling tick transmission.

Deleted: the occurrence of

Deleted: The improvement of

Deleted: of the disease

Deleted: the

Deleted: level of patients

Deleted: on

Deleted: was poor among medical staff, this may potentially

The results showed that [the medical staff was poor in](#) awareness of TBRD. [This could](#) be attributed to the scarcity of health education initiatives. As a newly emerging infectious disease, TBRD has not yet been fully managed in China (Lyu et al., 2021). Compared to the results of this survey, other studies have found that the knowledge, attitudes, and practices of medical staff were significantly different. In a survey on tick-borne diseases in endemic areas of the United States, the attitudes and practices levels of the local population were low, [reflected in the low participation rate in](#) personal prevention practices (Beck et al., 2022). A study in Finland showed that tick prevention practices in the region is still in its infancy (Zöldi et al., 2017). In contrast, many Czech students used targeted preventive measures regarding tick-borne diseases before going out (Butler et al., 2016).

Deleted: which was

Further analysis of our results showed that gender, age, professional title, department, and training [affected](#) the TBRD knowledge score, mainly reflected in the higher scores of [male](#) participants, infectious department personnel, having postgraduate or higher education, and trained medical staff. The infectious department is a common department for TBRD patients, so [relevant medical staff are expected to](#) know more about the disease. At the same time, [as the job titles of medical staff increase](#), so do their scores. Senior medical staff in China have greater professional knowledge and

Deleted: were the factors affecting

Deleted: which was

Deleted: who were male

Deleted: it is expected that

Deleted: it can be seen that

rich experience, so their scores are higher than those of lower-ranking medical staff. It can be seen from a survey of students in Egypt (Khamassi Khbou et al., 2020) that after training in a specific course, students gained a higher level of knowledge, which is consistent with our findings. Training on TBRD in endemic areas of China is increasing, which is a good sign. Notably, men's TBRD knowledge scores were higher than women's. The reasons behind this are worth further reflection.

Deleted: clearly

Some unexpected results are also worth highlighting. First, when analyzing the attitudes and practices of medical workers with rickettsial disease, we found that age, education level, and training were the most common factors influencing attitudes and practices scores. As age decreased and education increased, the score of medical personnel was higher. As education level increased, knowledge level increased.

Deleted: those of

Compared with the results of a study on tick-borne diseases and German foresters (San Martin Rodriguez et al., 2020), the education level of medical personnel in endemic areas in China did not affect the knowledge score, but played an important role in the attitudes and practices scores. In Germany, education did not affect the practices of those surveyed. However, surveys in prevalent areas of the United States showed that education was associated with better practices (Beck et al., 2022). In addition, the younger age group showed better attitudes and practices than the older age group, suggesting that more attention should be paid to the practices of the older group in daily work. Finally, the notably higher scores obtained by trained medical staff further highlighted the importance of relevant training.

Deleted: ,

Deleted: had no effect on

When analyzing TBRD health education groups, we found that 35.24% of the people fell into the first quadrant, and 88.71% of the first quadrant had a positive attitude toward TBRD. This part of the population is a successful product of TBRD health education (Brockmann & Brezinski, 2015; Ercis & Unalan, 2015). TBRD education must continue to be highlighted in future efforts to educate medical professionals.

Deleted: In

Deleted: , TBRD education must continue to be highlighted.

15.34% of the population fell into the second quadrant, with poor knowledge but superior practice levels. This part of the population under-performed in TBRD health education, and in-depth analysis is needed to analyze the causes. 18.33% of the population fell into the third quadrant, with poor knowledge and practices. 31.09% of the population fell into the fourth quadrant, indicating that while they showed good knowledge, they had no corresponding practice ability, suggesting that their knowledge did not produce an effect.

Deleted: practices

Deleted: terms of

Deleted: a

Deleted: level of

Deleted: practices

Deleted: In order

Deleted: , the survey site needs to be further expanded

There were some limitations to this study. We selected Lu'an City in Anhui Province as an endemic area in China to conduct a cross-sectional survey. The survey site needs to be further expanded to be more representative of the population. At the same time, this study was conducted as a field survey, and the options about attitudes and practices were graded, which could easily lead to the medical staff choosing inconsistent options to obtain higher scores.

Deleted: options

Deleted: in order

## 6. Conclusion

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Overall, this KAPs study provides information on the knowledge and practice of TBRD among healthcare workers in endemic areas of China and analyzes its

Deleted: health care



influences. Given the low knowledge scores of medical personnel, further intervention and education programs are needed to reduce the misdiagnosis rate of TBRD further. Further epidemiological studies also need to be performed to increase the number of medical professionals in the first quadrant, while also strengthening the health intervention of the population in the third quadrant, to promote the virtuous circle of knowledge, belief, and practice of medical staff.

Deleted: In view of

Deleted: further

Deleted: in order

Deleted: ,

Deleted: , so as

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all clinicians who contributed data from Jinzhai County People's Hospital, Huoshan County People's Hospital, Huoqiu County People's Hospital, Shucheng County People's Hospital, and Lu'an City People's Hospital.

Deleted: Acknowledgements

Deleted: would like to

References

Adem PV. 2019. Emerging and re-emerging rickettsial infections. *Seminars in Diagnostic Pathology* 36:146-151. DOI:10.1053/j.semdp.2019.04.005

Altmann TK. 2008. Attitude: a concept analysis. *Nursing forum: Wiley Online Library*. p 144-150. DOI:10.1111/j.1744-6198.2008.00106.x.

Beck A, Bjork J, Biggerstaff BJ, Eisen L, Eisen R, Foster E, Signs K, Tsao JI, Kough E, Peterson M, Schiffman E, Muganda CP, Osborn R, Wozniak R, Bron GM, Phaneuf D, Smith D, Bartholomay L, Paskewitz S, and Hinckley AF. 2022. Knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors regarding tick-borne disease prevention in Lyme disease-endemic areas of the Upper Midwest, United States. *Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases* 13. DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2022.101925

Bégué RE. 2023. An 11-Year-old Boy With Fever and Rash. *The Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal* 42:85-86. DOI:10.1097/inf.0000000000003643

Brockmann C, and Brezinski H. 2015. Experience Curve Effects in Bridge Construction. *Procedia Economics and Finance* 21:563-570. DOI:10.1016/s2212-5671(15)00213-0

Butler AD, Sedghi T, Petrini JR, and Ahmadi R. 2016. Tick-borne disease preventive practices and perceptions in an endemic area. *Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases* 7:331-337. DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2015.12.003

Eleftheriou A, Swisher S, Arruda A, Berrian A, and Pesapane R. 2023. A survey of knowledge, attitudes, and practices of veterinary professionals regarding ticks and tick-borne diseases: Insights from Ohio, USA. *One Health* 17. DOI:10.1016/j.onehlt.2023.100592

Ercis A, and Unalan M. 2015. Analysis of the World's Most Innovative Companies on the Basic of Industry: 2005-2014. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences* 195:1081-1086. DOI:10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.06.152

Faccini-Martinez AA, Munoz-Leal S, Acosta ICL, de Oliveira SV, de Lima Dure AI, Cerutti CJ, and Labruna MB. 2018. Confirming Rickettsia rickettsii as the etiological agent of lethal spotted fever group rickettsiosis in human patients



- from Espirito Santo state, Brazil. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* 9:496-499.  
DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2018.01.005
- Fang LQ, Liu K, Li XL, Liang S, Yang Y, Yao HW, Sun RX, Sun Y, Chen WJ, Zuo SQ, Ma MJ, Li H, Jiang JF, Liu W, Yang XF, Gray GC, Krause PJ, and Cao WC. 2015. Emerging tick-borne infections in mainland China: an increasing public health threat. *Lancet Infect Dis* 15:1467-1479. DOI:10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00177-2
- HM B, CB B, KK B, FS D, NA D, JS D, SM F, CY K, RR L, ML L, RF M, RB N, WL N, CD P, BS P, and MS T. 2016. Diagnosis and Management of Tickborne Rickettsial Diseases: Rocky Mountain Spotted Fever and Other Spotted Fever Group Rickettsioses, Ehrlichioses, and Anaplasmosis - United States. *MMWR Recomm Rep* 65:1-44. DOI:10.15585/mmwr.rr6502a1
- Hu H, Liu Z, Fu R, Liu Y, Ma H, and Zheng W. 2022. Detection and phylogenetic analysis of tick-borne bacterial and protozoan pathogens in a forest province of eastern China. *Acta Trop* 235:106634.  
DOI:10.1016/j.actatropica.2022.106634
- Igolkina Y, Rar V, Krasnova E, Filimonova E, Tikunov A, Epikhina T, and Tikunova N. 2022. Occurrence and clinical manifestations of tick-borne rickettsioses in Western Siberia: First Russian cases of *Rickettsia aeschlimannii* and *Rickettsia slovaca* infections. *Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases* 13.  
DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2022.101927
- Kernif T, Leulmi H, Raoult D, Parola P, Scheld WM, Hughes JM, and Whitley RJ. 2016. Emerging Tick-Borne Bacterial Pathogens. *Microbiology Spectrum* 4.  
DOI:10.1128/microbiolspec.EI10-0012-2016
- Khamassi Khbou M, Ayadi O, Al-Hosary AA, Darghouth MA, and Gharbi M. 2020. Knowledge and perception on ticks and tick-borne diseases among veterinary medicine students from the North African countries of Algeria, Egypt, and Tunisia. *Parasite Epidemiology and Control* 11.  
DOI:10.1016/j.parepi.2020.e00169
- Kinoshita H, Arima Y, Shigematsu M, Sunagawa T, Saijo M, Oishi K, and Ando S. 2021. Descriptive epidemiology of rickettsial infections in Japan: Scrub typhus and Japanese spotted fever, 2007–2016. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases* 105:560-566. DOI:10.1016/j.ijid.2021.02.069
- Leon de la Fuente R, and Sanchez AP. 2018. Fatal spotted fever rickettsiosis in Argentina. *IDCases* 12:151-152. DOI:10.1016/j.idcr.2018.05.006
- Li W, and Liu SN. 2021. *Rickettsia japonica* infections in Huanggang, China, in 2021. *IDCases* 26:e01309. DOI:10.1016/j.idcr.2021.e01309
- Lu M, Qin XC, Jiang YZ, Guo Q, Jin XJ, Teng ZQ, Sun XR, Yu L, Zhang YF, Wang W, Chen QQ, Liang JR, Wan J, Ren HY, Lv Y, Wang YH, Yi L, Chang HW, Hong DY, Zheng C, Lian XX, Li K, Xu PX, Wen B, Kan B, Xu J, and Qin T. 2023. Emergence of ehrlichiosis by a new tick-borne *Ehrlichia* species in China. *Int J Infect Dis* 131:32-39. DOI:10.1016/j.ijid.2023.03.038
- Lyu Y, Hu CY, Sun L, Qin W, Xu PP, Sun J, Hu JY, Yang Y, Li FL, Chang HW, Li XD, Xie SY, Li KC, Huang XX, Ding F, and Zhang XJ. 2017. Impact of an

Formatted: Spanish

- intervention programme on knowledge, attitudes and practices of population regarding severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome in endemic areas of Lu'an, China. *Epidemiology and Infection* 146:125-136.  
DOI:10.1017/s0950268817002679
- Lyu Y, Shen Y, Hu CY, Xu PP, Qin W, Gong L, Zhou Y, Gong TQ, Sun J, Chen BL, Sun Y, Xie SY, Li KC, and Chang HW. 2021. The first reported outbreak of an undetermined species of human infection with spotted fever group Rickettsia in Lu'an, China. *Acta Trop* 223:106072.  
DOI:10.1016/j.actatropica.2021.106072
- Mendes JB, Gomes JF, Gonçalves T, Canhão B, and Madaleno J. 2021. Encephalitis: A rare complication of mediterranean spotted fever. *IDCases* 24.  
DOI:10.1016/j.idcr.2021.e01136
- Merhej V, Angelakis E, Socolovschi C, and Raoult D. 2014. Genotyping, evolution and epidemiological findings of Rickettsia species. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution* 25:122-137. DOI:10.1016/j.meegid.2014.03.014
- Nicholson WL, Sonenshine DE, Noden BH, and Brown RN. 2019. Chapter 27 - Ticks (Ixodida). In: Mullen GR, and Durden LA, eds. *Medical and Veterinary Entomology (Third Edition)*: Academic Press, 603-672.
- Peregrina-Rivas JA, Guirao-Arrabal E, Ramos-Pleguezuelos FM, and Hernandez-Quero J. 2022. Erythema nodosum: An uncommon manifestation of Rickettsiosis. *Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin (Engl Ed)* 40:151-152.  
DOI:10.1016/j.eimce.2021.01.006
- Romer Y, Borrás P, Govedic F, Nava S, Carranza JI, Santini S, Armitano R, and Lloveras S. 2020. Clinical and epidemiological comparison of Rickettsia parkeri rickettsiosis, related to Amblyomma triste and Amblyomma tigrinum, in Argentina. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* 11:101436.  
DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2020.101436
- Rudakov N, Samoylenko I, Shtrek S, Igoikina Y, Rar V, Zhirakovskaia E, Tkachev S, Kostyrykina T, Blokhina I, Lentz P, and Tikunova N. 2019. A fatal case of tick-borne rickettsiosis caused by mixed Rickettsia sibirica subsp. sibirica and "Candidatus Rickettsia tarasevichiae" infection in Russia. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* 10:101278. DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2019.101278
- San Martin Rodriguez M, Kaier K, Hehn M, and Borde JP. 2020. Knowledge, habits and attitudes towards TBE and other tick-borne diseases in German forestry trainees. *Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases* 11. DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2019.101307
- Sevestre J, Diarra AZ, Oumarou HA, Durant J, Delaunay P, and Parola P. 2021. Detection of emerging tick-borne disease agents in the Alpes-Maritimes region, southeastern France. *Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases* 12.  
DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2021.101800
- Silva-Ramos CR, Bernal-Garcia EA, Gomez MC, Gil-Mora J, Hidalgo M, and Faccini-Martinez AA. 2022. First case of Rickettsia africae rickettsiosis, African tick-bite fever, in a Colombian traveler. *Travel Med Infect Dis* 50:102463. DOI:10.1016/j.tmaid.2022.102463

- Singh S, Giganti F, Dickinson L, Rogers H, Kanber B, Clemente J, Pye H, Heavey S, Stopka-Farooqui U, Johnston EW, Moore CM, Freeman A, Whitaker HC, Alexander DC, Panagiotaki E, and Punwani S. 2023. Prostate MR image quality of apparent diffusion coefficient maps versus fractional intracellular volume maps from VERDICT MRI using the PI-QUAL score and a dedicated Likert scale for artefacts. *European Journal of Radiology* 168. DOI:10.1016/j.ejrad.2023.111109
- Walker DH, and Ismail N. 2008. Emerging and re-emerging rickettsioses: endothelial cell infection and early disease events. *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 6:375-386. DOI:10.1038/nrmicro1866
- Walker DH, Myers CTE, Blanton LS, Bloch KC, Fowler VG, Jr., Gaines DN, Paddock CD, and Yaglom HD. 2022. Rickettsiosis subcommittee report to the tick-borne disease working group. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* 13:101855. DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2021.101855
- Zhang L, Ni D, and Feng Z. 2010. External quality assessment of the detection of rickettsioses in China. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine* 3:851-854. DOI:10.1016/s1995-7645(10)60205-2
- Zöldi V, Turunen T, Lyytikäinen O, and Sane J. 2017. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices regarding ticks and tick-borne diseases, Finland. *Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases* 8:872-877. DOI:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2017.07.004